IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2010-CA-02038

JOHN STOREY, BATTLEFIELD EXPRESS DRUGS, INC. AND BATTLEFIELD COMPOUNDING CENTER

APPELLANTS

VS.

GENE ABBOTT AND BILLY WILLIAMSON

APPELLEES

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF WARREN COUNTY

DAVID M. SESSUMS PENNY B. LAWSON VARNER, PARKER & SESSUMS, P.A. Post Office Box 1237 1110 Jackson Street Vicksburg, Mississippi 39181-1237 Telephone: 601/638-8741

Facsimile: 601/638-8666

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2008-CA-01173-COA

JOHN STOREY, BATTLEFIELD EXPRESS DRUGS, INC. AND BATTLEFIELD COMPOUNDING CENTER

APPELLANTS

VS.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. Whether the Defendants leasing of a building to open a pharmacy, which Plaintiff's had previously consented to constitutes "buying another location" and in violation of Item (cc) of the Agreement.
- II Whether the Plaintiffs' filing of this lawsuit constitutes a breach of Item (m) of said Agreement entitling Defendant John Storey to liquidated damages.
- III. Whether the actions of the Plaintiffs in filing their lawsuit constitutes an abusive process and an intentional tort, which warrants the imposition of punitive damages and attorneys fees against the Plaintiffs.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE: FACTS AND PROCEEDINGS IN THE CIRCUIT COURT

This is an action for breach of contract. On December 15, 2000, Gene Abbott and Billy Williamson executed a an Agreement for the sale of a pharmacy in Vicksburg, Mississippi operating as SuperCo, Inc. and doing business under the trade name Battlefield Discount Drugs, Inc. to John W. Storey and Mitchell Chad Barrett. (C.R. 9-14 R.E. 1). The Agreement expressly provides under Item (s) that the Agreement, "Shall be interpreted according to the application of the general rules and laws regarding arms lengths transactions" and Item (y) "This agreement shall be subject to and governed by the laws of the State of Mississippi..."

In 2008, John Storey and Chad Barrett planned on opening, as opposed to purchasing, a new pharmacy location to which Abbott and Williamson were in complete agreement with and they both had agreed to work at the new pharmacy. Storey and Barrett jointly obtained a lease on 2080 Frontage Road for the new location with plans to open a new pharmacy from the ground up.

On April 22, 2009, Storey filed a dissolution of partnership suit against Barrett in the Chancery Court of Warren County, Mississippi. After the dissolution suit was filed, Barrett attempted to obtain the lease on 2080 Frontage Road after it expired on its initial terms in his individual name but was unsuccessful. However, Storey also attempted to obtain the lease individually and was

successful.

After the filing of the dissolution suit Storey formed Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc., and Battlefield Compounding, Inc., of which he is the sole owner, director and officer. During this same time period Barrett was also opening his own new pharmacy called Vicksburg Special Care Pharmacy. Neither Storey nor Barrett bought their new pharmacies from any sellers but instead opened pharmacies from the ground up.

Once Storey successfully obtained the lease on 2080 Frontage Road, Abbott and Williamson filed suit naming Storey, Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc. as Defendants (hereinafter "Defendants"). They did not file suit against Barrett although at the time that suit against Storey was commencing Storey and Barrett were still partners and operators of SuperCo., Inc. Abbott and Williamson admitted in their depositions that they had no intentions of bringing suit against Barrett even though they admitted that Barrett had done the same thing as Storey. At all times while the suit against Storey was ongoing, and to date, all payments due and owing to Abbott and Williamson under the December 2000, Agreement were timely and properly made.

On October 28, 2009, Abbott and Williamson filed their Complaint against Storey, Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc., and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc. in the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi alleging that they had secured another location in competition with SuperCo, Inc. d/b/a Battlefield Discount Drugs, Inc. without the consent of Abbott and Williamson and that was in violation Item (cc) of the December 2000, Agreement. (C.R. 5-8 R.E. 2). Under the agreement Item (cc) states:

"Purchasers agree that they will not buy another location in Warren County without the consent of the Sellers into."

However, Abbott and Williamson alleged in Paragraph 5 of their Complaint:

"That the Agreement included a provision that the Purchasers (Defendant Storey and Mitchell Chad Barrett) would not secure another location in competition with SuperCo., Inc., d/b/a Battlefield Discount Drugs, Inc., in Warren County during the term of said Agreement without the consent of the Sellers (Plaintiffs) hereto. That said Agreement currently remains in full force and effect."

Abbott and Williamson brought suit only against Storey and his closely held corporations, although Barrett was in the process of opening Vicksburg Speciality Care Pharmacy.

On October 30, 2009, Storey filed his Answer, Affirmative Defenses and Counter Complaint and Motion for Sanctions. (C.R.18-22 R.E. 3). He asserted that he had not bought another location in Warren County from any seller and, that Abbott and Williamson were aware of this and had consented to the new store located at 2080 South Frontage Road, and had in fact, had both been scheduled to work at the new store once it opened. Additionally, Barrett, a non party to this suit, was a party to the Agreement and was also opening Vicksburg Speciality Care Pharmacy and that Abbott and Williamson had not filed any action against Barrett and that disparate treatment was a tortuous indifference with Storey's business interests and contract rights and abuse of process.

On November 2, 2009, Storey filed their Motion to Dismiss and for Judgment on the Pleadings, asserting that the Abbott and Williamson's lawsuit was premised on violation of Item (cc) of the Agreement not because they had bought another location but because they had opened another location moving further that the Abbott and Williamson's Complaint did not allege that the Defendants Storey had bought anything, and moved for the Court's entry of a judgment as a matter of law. (C.R. 23-25; R.E. 4)

On November 17, 2009, a Motion for Leave to Assert Counter-Complaint was filed (C.R. 36; R.E. 5) and on November 20, 2009, an Order Allowing Motion for Leave to Assert Counter-Complaint was entered. (C.R. 49; R.E. 6)

On November 24, 2009, Abbott and Williamson filed their Response to the Motion to Dismiss

and for Judgment on the Pleadings asserting:

...that Plaintiffs allege that Storey secured "another location in Warren County" in violation of the Agreement attached to the Complaint.

On November 24, 2009, Storey filed his Counter-Complaint asserting that it was Abbott and Williamson who were in violation of Item (m) of the Agreement by filing their lawsuit against Storey and therefore Storey is entitled to liquidated damages per Item (m) which provides:

Additionally, Sellers agree that they will develop marketing and other business plans as consultants for the Company on a continued basis for the period of the indebtedness. Upon the breach of this provision by either of the Sellers, the remaining indebtedness of Purchasers shall immediately be reduced by fifty percent (50%) and payments identified in the following paragraph will be terminated as of the dated of said breach.

The payments identified in Item (n) of the Agreement were:

Following closing, Purchasers may cause the Company to offer either or both of the Sellers a Position of full-time employment. In addition, Purchasers will pay Sellers collectively a consulting fee of \$250,000, and a non-competition fee of \$600,000. Payments for said fees will be amortized over a twelve (12) year period and will be paid on a monthly basis beginning seventy (70) days after closing.

The Counter-Claim also asserted that the Abbott and Williamson filed their lawsuit in collusion with Barrett in an attempt to assist him in his dissolution litigation with Storey. The Counter Complaint also asserts that the lawsuit filed by Abbott and Williamson caused damage the economic interests of Storey as evidenced by the Abbott and Williamson not taking any similar action against Barrett or his new pharmacy, Vicksburg Speciality Care Pharmacy. (C.R. 59-69; R.E.7)

Abbott and Williamson filed their Reply to the Counter-Complaint denying the allegations and asserting that the Agreement was subject to the Court's interpretation of the four corners of the parties Agreement. Further, the Abbott and Williamson asserted that they had a vested interest in the financial health of SuperCo., Inc. so as to insure payments of the purchase price. (C.R. 52-56; R.E. 8). Abbott and Williamson also filed a Motion to Amend Complaint to include a Rule 57 Declaratory

Judgment to determine any question of construction. (C.R. 57-58; R.E. 9) and on November 30, 2009, an Order was entered allowing Abbott and Williamson to amend their Complaint in the manner requested. (C.R. 70; R.E. 10).

On December 9, 2009, Abbott and Williamson filed their Amended Complaint adding their Motion for Declaratory Judgment pursuant to M.R.C.P. 57. They moved the court to grant a permanent injunction prohibiting Storey from opening and/or operating another pharmacy business contrary to the Agreement so as to prevent further present and/or future irreparable harm. (C.R. 83-86; R.E.11). On December 14, 2009, Storey filed his Answer to Amended Complaint. (C.R. 87-89; R.E. 12).

After a brief period of time for discovery, Storey filed his Supplemental Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment. (C.R. 110-117; R.E. 13)

On July 28, 2010, Storey filed a Notice of Hearing for all outstanding motions filed on behalf of the parties. (C.R. 108-109; R.E. 14). On August 17, 2010, Storey filed a Supplemental Brief in Support of Motion to Dismiss and/or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment. Storey asserted that he had not violated the plain terms of Item (cc) of the Agreement as Storey had not "bought" another pharmacy; and that Abbott and Williamson by their own sworn deposition testimony admitted that they had suffered no irreparable harm or injury. (C.R.110; R.E. 13).

On August 18, 2010, Abbott and Williamson filed their Motion for Continuance (C.R. 159-160 R.E. 15) and subsequently on September 8, 2010, filed their own Motion for Summary Judgment claiming that Storey's Counter Claim was without merit both factually and as a matter of law. Abbott and Williamson asserted that in order for Defendants Storey to make out their case they would have to prove that the Abbott and Williamson acted with actual malice, gross negligence, which evidences a willful, wanton or reckless disregard for the safety of others, or actual fraud.

On October 14, 2010, a hearing was held before the Honorable Isadore W. Patrick in the Circuit Court of Warren County, as which time the Court took all motions under advisement pending a ruling. (T:1-49) On December 1, 2010, the Administrative Office of Court issued a notice of filing Pursuant to M.R.A.P. 15. (C.R. 254; R.E. 16) On December 2, 2010, an Order was entered which held that Storey had not violated section (cc) of the contract and therefore the complaint by the Plaintiffs was dismissed. Further, the Court held that Abbott and Williamson did not violate section (m) and found that their Motion for Summary Judgment as to Storey's Counter Claim should be granted. (C.R. 255-256; R.E.17)

Storey timely filed his Notice of Appeal on December 13, 2010, (C.R. 258; R.E.18) and Abbott and Williamson filed their Notice of Cross Appeal on December 15, 2010 (C.R. 264-265; R. E. 19).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

On December 15, 2000, Gene Abbott and Billy Williamson signed an agreement selling SuperCo, Inc. (a pharmacy business) which was doing business as Battlefield Discount Drugs, on Indiana Avenue in Vicksburg, Mississippi, selling same to John Storey and Chad Barrett.

The agreement of December 15, 2000, contained Item (cc) which provided, in toto;

"Purchasers agree that they will not buy another location in Warren County without the consent of the Sellers hereto."

In 2008 Storey and Barrett consulted with Abbott and Williamson regarding their plans to open a brand new pharmacy from the ground up to be located at 2080 Frontage Road, Vicksburg, Mississippi. Abbott and Williamson were in complete agreement to open the new pharmacy and in fact agreed to personally work at this new pharmacy location.

Pursuant to their plans to open a new pharmacy from the ground up at 2080 Frontage Road,

Vicksburg, Mississippi, Storey and Barrett leased the 2080 Frontage Road location from the owner thereof. This was with the complete agreement of Williamson and Abbott.

On April 22, 2009, Storey filed a suit for dissolution of partnership against Barrett in the Chancery Court of Warren County, Mississippi. During the pendency of the dissolution suit the lease which Storey and Barrett had taken out on 2080 Frontage Road expired without any new pharmacy actually being opened at said location.

Thereafter, Barrett attempted to lease the premises located at 2080 Frontage Road solely in his own name but was unsuccessful in doing so. Similarly, Storey attempted to lease the premises located at 2080 Frontage Road and was successful in obtaining a new lease in his name only.

During this time Barrett began his own plans to open his own new pharmacy from the ground up at another location on Highway 61 South in Vicksburg, Mississippi. Barrett's new pharmacy is called Vicksburg Special Care Pharmacy and opened on Highway 61 South in Vicksburg, Mississippi.

Storey formed two (2) new corporations, Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc. to operate at the 2080 Frontage Road location.

With the trial of the dissolution of partnership suit set to begin trial in Chancery Court in November 2009, Abbott and Williamson filed their Complaint on October 28, 2009, against John Storey, Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc. claiming that they would be irreparably damaged by the opening of the new pharmacy at 2080 Frontage Road and requested injunctive relief and damages.

Thereafter, before the Chancery partnership dissolution suit could be concluded Storey was able to purchase Barrett's interest in SuperCo a/k/a Battlefield Discount Drugs.

Item (m) of the Agreement of December 15, 2000, provided in pertinent part:

"Sellers agree that they will develop marketing or other business plans as consultants

for the company on the continued basis for the period of the indebtedness. Upon the breach of this provision by either of the Sellers, the remaining indebtedness of Purchasers shall immediately be reduced by fifty percent (50%) and payments identified in the following paragraph will be terminated as of the date of said breach."

Once Abbott and Williamson filed their suit for injunctive relief and damages against Storey (but not Barrett), Storey filed his counter-claim alleging that Abbott and Williamson had breached Item (m) of the December 15, 2000, agreement claiming that filing an injunctive lawsuit was directly contrary to Abbott and Williamson's duty to develop marketing or other business plans as consultants on a continued basis for the period of the indebtedness owed to them.

Neither Barrett nor Storey purchased a pharmacy from anyone. (ie: did not "buy" a pharmacy from anyone). Both Barrett and Storey opened a new pharmacy from the ground up without paying any Seller for goodwill or a covenant not to compete.

Abbott and Williamson sued only Storey and never interfered in any way with Barrett's opening of and operating a new pharmacy at another separate location in Warren County.

It is Defendants Storeys position that the Circuit Court of Warren County, Mississippi was correct in granting their Motion for Summary Judgment against Abbott and Williamson because the Defendants Storey "did not <u>buy</u> another location in Warren County" without the consent of Abbott and Williamson. Williamson and Abbott actually consented to the opening of the new location of 2080 Frontage Road, Vicksburg, Mississippi and planned to work at the store.

In their depositions both Abbott and Williamson admitted under oath that they had sustained no damages and knew of no irreparable damage that they had or would suffer or would be likely to suffer and all payments by the Purchaser under the December 15, 2000, agreement had and have been made timely to Abbott and Williamson.

In contrast a jury issue exists on whether or not Abbott and Williamson violated Item (m) of

the agreement of December 15, 2000, as it is inconceivable that filing a lawsuit seeking injunctive relief and damages to prevent the new location from opening at 2080 Frontage Road is in furtherance of Abbott and Williamson's duty to "develop marketing and other business plans as consultants" on a continued basis for the period of the indebtedness owed to them.

The lower court was in error in granting Abbott and Williamson's Motion for Summary Judgment on this issue.

ARGUMENT

ITEMIZATION OF UNDISPUTED FACTS

On December 15, 2000, Gene Abbott and Billy Williamson signed an Agreement selling SuperCo., Inc. d/b/a Battlefield Discount Drugs on Indiana Avenue in Vicksburg, MS to Chad Barrett and John Storey.

Pursuant to said Agreement of December 15, 2000, Abbott and Williamson sold to Storey and Barrett all their stock in SuperCo, together with all other assets of the on going pharmacy business being sold by Abbott and Williamson including the "goodwill" value of the established business.

Contained in the agreement of December 15, 2000, was item (cc) which provided:

"Purchasers agree that they will not **buy** another location in Warren County without the consent of the Sellers hereto."

In the Agreement of December 15, 2000, Abbott and Williamson specifically sold "goodwill" in the ongoing Battlefield Discount Drug enterprise to Barrett and Storey. (See Item (g) of said agreement)

As early as 2008, Storey and Barrett planned, instead of buying an existing pharmacy from someone else, to open a brand new pharmacy located at 2080 Frontage Road, Vicksburg, MS. Such opening did not require the purchase by Storey and Barrett of any goodwill or other nontangible

assets.

Abbott and Williamson were in complete agreement with the plan to open the new pharmacy at 2080 Frontage Road. Abbott and Williamson were so enthusiastic in their agreement with the plans to open a new pharmacy at 2080 Frontage Road, that they both planned to work at the new pharmacy at 2080 Frontage Road. Abbott admitted in his deposition that as late as January 2009, he was still planning to go work at the new pharmacy when it opened at 2080 Frontage Road.

On April 22, 2009, Storey filed a dissolution of partnership suit against Barrett in the Chancery Court of Warren County Mississippi. During said dissolution suit, Barrett attempted to buy all of Storey's interest in Battlefield Discount Drugs and SuperCo. During said partnership dissolution proceedings, Storey likewise attempted to buy all of Barrett's interest in Battlefield Discount Drugs and SuperCo.

During all times, and to date, all payments due and owing to Abbott and Williamson under the agreement of December 15, 2000 were timely and properly made and no payments have ever been missed.

Pursuant to their plans to open a new pharmacy at 2080 Frontage Road, Barrett and Storey had taken out a lease with the landlord of the premises located at 2080 Frontage Road. The lease on 2080 Frontage Road expired in July 2009 while the partnership litigation between Barrett and Storey was ongoing. Barrett attempted to acquire a new lease on the premises at 2080 Frontage in his own individual name but was unsuccessful. Storey attempted to acquire a new lease on the premises at 2080 Frontage Road and was successful.

Thereafter Storey formed Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc., and Battlefield Compounding, Inc., of which he is the sole owner, director and officer. Battlefield Express Drugs entered into the lease with the landlord and leased the premises at 2080 Frontage Road in August 2009.

During this same time period Barrett also was planning to open his own new pharmacy called Vicksburg Special Care Pharmacy located on Highway 61 South in Vicksburg, MS. Said pharmacy was opened by Barrett with no interference from Abbott and Williamson.

Barrett did not buy his new pharmacy from anyone but instead opened a new pharmacy from the ground up. Barrett did not pay anyone any goodwill to open his new pharmacy called Vicksburg Special Care Pharmacy.

Storey did not pay anyone any goodwill to open the new Battlefield Express Drugs Inc.

Pharmacy at 2080 Frontage Road and did not buy a pharmacy from anyone.

The dissolution of partnership case between Storey and Barrett was set to go to trial before the Chancery Court of Warren County in November 2009. On October 28, 2009, Abbott and Williamson chose to file their Complaint in this case against John Storey, Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center seeking to shut down and prevent the opening of the new pharmacy at 2080 Frontage Road claiming irreparable injury and damages.

In their complaint Abbott and Williamson contended that Storey, Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc. were all bound by the terms of the December 15, 2000 agreement.

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