IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS NO. 2010-CA-02038

JOHN STOREY, BATTLEFIELD EXPRESS DRUGS, INC. AND BATTLEFIELD COMPOUNDING CENTER

APPELLANTS

APPELLEES

VS.

GENE ABBOTT AND BILLY WILLIAMSON

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following interested persons and entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of the Supreme Court and/or the judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

- 1. Gene Abbott, Plaintiff/Appellees
- 2. Billy Williamson, Plaintiff/Appellees

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

On cross appeal, Appellees argue that Defendant Storey violated and breached Item (cc)

of the parties' purchase Agreement by *obtaining* and operating a new pharmacy named "Battlefield Express Drugs and Compounding Center" in a new location during the 2009 dissolution of Battlefield Discount Drugs. Defendant Storey bought the right to possess by leasehold to operate another pharmacy in Warren County, without the Plaintiffs' consent, which violated the plain language of parties' agreement that Defendant Storey would not "buy another location in Warren County" until the completion of the indebtedness to Plaintiffs. In considering the spirit and intent of the parties' entire Agreement, Item(cc) - and applying wellestablished contract construction and interpretation, the subject provision was an agreement for the parties' not to engage in competition in Warren County without prior consent and approval. Regardless, the purchase Agreement was breached by Defendant Storey because of Defendants' acquisition of a lease for the purpose of opening a pharmacy in Warren County. Plaintiffs did not consent to Defendant Storey negotiating for, obtaining, or opening a new pharmacy by wholly different company(ies) with a similar name, in direct competition with Battlefield Discount Drugs. Not only did Plaintiffs have a legitimate basis for bringing their lawsuit, but there was no basis for the dismissal of their complaint. Plaintiffs provided sufficient evidence to the trial court to demonstrate a survival of their claim. Furthermore, Plaintiffs requested and did not receive a declaratory judgment as to the parties' intent of the "no buy" Agreement. Therefore, the trial court's dismissal of Plaintiffs' complaint was erroneous.

ARGUMENT

It is clear that in applying the appropriate law to the undisputed facts on record and before the trial court, as set out herein above, this Court should determine that the trial court was correct in granting summary judgment on Defendants' counterclaims for breach of contract and abuse of process. Defendants were unable to show to the trial court that any genuine issue of material fact existed that would allow a jury to consider that Plaintiffs' lawsuit against Defendants was a violation of Item (m) of the parties' Agreement or that Plaintiffs' request for injunction was an abuse of process.

However, this Court should determine that the trial court was in error to: (1) dismiss Plaintiffs' complaint without ruling on Plaintiffs' request for declaratory judgment; and (2) determine that Defendant Storey did not violate Item (cc) of the parties' Agreement by *acquiring a leasehold* on behalf of the Defendant corporations for the purpose of operating a pharmacy without Plaintiffs' consent.

I. Standard of Review

In reviewing a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment, the well-established standard of review is *de novo*. *See One South, Inc. v. Hollowell,* 963 So. 2d 1156, 1160 (Miss. 2007) *(citing Hubbard v. Wansley,* 954 So. 2d 951, 956 (Miss. 2007)). To succeed on a motion for summary judgment, the moving party must show that "there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." *Thomas v. Columbia Group, LLC,* 969 So.2d 849, 849 (Miss. 2007) (quoting Rule 56(c) *Miss. R. Civ. P.*). Therefore, as to the trial court's grant of Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment on Defendants' counterclaim, this Court should employ a *de novo* standard of review. *See id.*

Traditionally, the Court employs an abuse of discretion standard of review for grants or modifications of an injunction. *Moses v. Washington Parish School Board*, 379 F.3d 319, 327 (5th Cir. 2003). However, when the grant or denial of an injunction involves a question of law, the Court applies a *de novo* standard of review. *St. Paul Mercury Ins. Co. v. Williamson*, 332 F. 3d 304, 308 (5th Cir. 2003). Because the denial of Plaintiffs' claim was in the form of a dismissal, it involved a question of law and thereby requires a *de novo* standard of review. *See id*. Additionally, an appellate court employs a *de novo* standard of review of a motion to dismiss under Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). *Rose v. Tullos*, 994 So. 2d 734, 737 (Miss. 2008).⁵

The trial court (1) dismissed Plaintiffs' complaint for injunctive relief and ruled that Defendants did not violate the parties' Agreement prohibiting the purchase of a new pharmacy location; and (2) granted summary judgment in favor of Plaintiffs and ruled that Plaintiffs, by filing suit against Defendants, did not violate the parties' Agreement to market and develop business plans for the parties' company, thereby dismissing Defendants' claim for liquidated or punitive damages. (C.R. 255-56; R.E. 17). Therefore, the proper standard of review for this Court on all issues on appeal and cross-appeal is *de novo*.

II. The trial Court was correct that Plaintiffs did not violate Item (m) of the Agreement because their lawsuit was an effort to enforce their contract with Defendant Storey, entitling Defendants to neither liquidated damages under the Agreement or punitive damages under state law.

The trial court found that Plaintiffs did not violate Item (m) of the agreement. (C.R. 256; R.E. 17). The trial court found that the Plaintiffs' disagreement concerning the acquisition of a lease for a new drug store could be interpreted as developing marketing and business plans as contemplated by Item (m). (C.R. 256; R.E. 17).

Aggrieved by this decision, Defendants argue that there exists a genuine issue of material fact for the jury to determine that (1) Plaintiffs had a duty "to develop marketing and other business plans" and (2) filing the injunction to prevent the opening of Defendants' new pharmacy

^{5.} Defendants initially moved for a judgment on the pleadings, (C.R. 23-35; R.E. 4), but after Plaintiffs amended their Complaint, and the parties conducted discovery, Defendants simply supplemented their memorandum in support of their motion to dismiss Plaintiffs' claims and alternatively moved for summary judgment, citing matters outside the pleadings, thereby apparently abandoning their motion for judgment on the pleadings. (C.R. 110–158; R.E. 13). However, Defendants did not specifically cite their basis for their motion to dismiss under Rule 12 of the *Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure*. (C.R. 23-36, 110-116; R.E. 4,13), but it has been the position of the Plaintiffs that the basis of Defendants' argument is that the pleadings allegedly failed to state a cause of action. (C.R. 168; A.R.E. 3).

was a "clear breach" of item "m". (Appellants' Brief, p. 21). Defendants also argue that Plaintiffs, as parties to the Agreement concerning SuperCo, Inc., owed a duty to Defendant Storey <u>and</u> his new companies, Defendants Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc., under the terms of of Item (v)⁶ of the Agreement. (Appellants' Brief at p. 22). As the trial court correctly ruled, all of Defendants' claims, as a matter of law, cannot survive summary judgment due to the lack of any genuine issue of material fact.

A. Plaintiffs' claims against Defendants, at the time of filing, were legitimate, regardless of Defendant Storey later acquiring sole ownership of SuperCo., Inc.

On October 28, 2008, at the time Plaintiffs filed their suit to enjoin Defendants from harming Plaintiffs' interest in SuperCo., Inc., Defendant Storey was not determined to be the successor in interest to SuperCo., Inc. (C.R. 183; A.R.E. 4; Appellants' Brief at p. 30). As Defendants pointed out in their brief, the question of who and to what extent would be the successor in interest had not yet been determined as the trial on the dissolution of Storey's and Barrett's business interests was set to begin in November 2009.⁷ (C.R. 183; A.R.E. 4; Appellants' Brief at p. 30). As Plaintiffs demonstrated to the trial court, several facts supported the basis for Plaintiffs bringing their injunctive action on October 28, 2009: (1) Defendant Storey had filed the dissolution suit against his SuperCo., Inc. business partner, Barrett; (2) Defendant Storey and Barrett failed to pay rent on the lease at 2080 Frontage Road, causing the lease to which Plaintiffs had consented to expire in July 2009; (3) On August 3, 2009, Defendant Storey formed two new corporations, completely separate from SuperCo, Inc., with names similar to "Battlefield Discount Drugs" for the purpose of opening and operating a pharmacy under the

⁶ Item (v) states that the Agreement "shall inure to the benefit of the parties to this agreement and ... successors in interest." (C.R. 12; R.E. 1).

⁷ The record is devoid of the actual trial date of the Chancery Court matter in Storey v. Barrett; however, by all accounts Plaintiffs filed their suit prior to the trial date of the Chancery Court matter.

name "Battlefield Express Drugs and Compounding Center"; (4) Defendant Storey placed an advertisement in YellowBook for his new pharmacy, without knowing whether he would obtain SuperCo, Inc's interest; (5) Defendant Storey erected a sign for his new pharmacy in October 2009 in preparation to open his new pharmacy in November 2009; (6) As creditors of SuperCo. Inc, Plaintiffs could have suffered financially had Defendant Storey <u>not</u> acquired sole ownership of SuperCo, Inc. d/b/a "Battlefield Discount Drugs" because of the competing business of "Battlefield Express Drugs and Compounding Center". (C.R. 183 -189; 134; R.E. 20).

1. Plaintiffs had a duty to protect and promote the welfare of SuperCo, Inc. and therefore had a duty to bring the action to enjoin the opening of a pharmacy by Defendants that could potentially irreparably harm SuperCo., Inc.

Storey and Barrett were engaged in a suit for dissolution of their company/partnership at the time Storey obtained the new lease and formed two new corporations with names similar to Battlefield Discount Drugs (i.e., "Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc.")(C.R. 185; A.R.E. 4). The Defendants have provided no evidence for a fact-finder to consider that Plaintiffs breached Item (m) by filing an injunctive suit <u>against separate</u> <u>companies</u>, in competition with their company. As required by Rule 56(e), *Miss. Rule Civ. P.*, Defendants have offered no evidence to support a conclusion that Plaintiffs breached their <u>duty</u> to <u>Defendant Storey</u> as a party to the Agreement in bringing their action in October 2009. Defendants have only offered evidence that: (1) Plaintiffs suffered no irreparable harm or damages from Defendants opening their pharmacy; and (T. 7; A.R.E. 6)(2) Plaintiffs previously gave consent to Storey and Barrett for the opening of a new pharmacy at that location, upon which Defendant Storey relied. (T. 42; A.R.E. 6). As argued herein below, Plaintiffs' lack of sustaining damages after their injunctive action does not render their request for injunctive relief a breach, because the very nature of a request for injunctive relief is to *prevent* harm. *See*

Littleton v. McAdams, 60 So. 3d 169, 171 (Miss. 2011)(considering appeal of a request for injunctive relief which requires a finding of (1) substantial likelihood that the plaintiff will prevail on the merits; (2) injunction is necessary to prevent irreparable harm; (3) threatened injury outweighs the harm an injunction might do to defendants; and (4) granting a preliminary injunction is consistent with public interest); *Miss. R. Civ. P.* 65(a). Additionally, there was no question that Plaintiffs did not give consent to Defendant Storey, individually and on behalf of his new companies, to acquire a lease in order to open and operate a pharmacy under a similar trade name. (C.R. 185-188; A.R.E. 4). The evidence presented to the trial court was that Plaintiffs gave consent for Storey and Barrett to operate a pharmacy under their company "Battlefield Clinic Drugs". (C.R.183; A.R.E. 4). The evidence, even construed in the light most favorable to Defendants, showed that SuperCo, Inc. was <u>not</u> the owner or operator of Defendants' new pharmacy on the date of Plaintiffs' filing for injunctive relief. (C.R.5, 185-186; A.R.E. 4; R.E. 1). Defendants offered no contradictory evidence to the trial court, and none exists.

-

Plaintiffs however, attached to their motion for summary judgment the deposition of Defendant John Storey, in which he testified the following:

- Q. And what steps did you take after that lease [with Battlefield Clinic Drugs, Inc] was terminated to secure the location for your - for any other entity or yourself?
- A. I incorporated Battlefield Express Drugs and called Citadel up, told them I was willing to pay the back payments that were not paid and renegotiated the lease.
- Q. Okay. And when - do you recall when that lease was entered into?

Q. Okay August 11th, 2009, is when you say you entered into the new agreement with them. You agree with that representation made by you.

A. That sounds about right.

- Q. Okay. And that would have been in keeping with your new corporations, Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc.
- A. Yes.
- Q. And that lease was for the purpose of operating those entities out of that location

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Now, tell me for the record, before securing the lease in August of 2009, your contact with either Gene Abbot or Billy Williamson about your intent to open a store under the name of Battlefield Express Drugs.

- A. I had no contact with them prior to that time -
- Q. Okay
- A. ---about opening an entity called Battlefield Express Drugs.

- Q. And you were issued licenses to operate from that location by the State Board of Pharmacy, is that correct?
- A. Yes, sir.

(C.R. 185-187; A.R.E. 4). Defendant Storey also testified in his deposition that he was the only shareholder and officer of his newly formed companies on August 3, 2009, at the time the dissolution suit with Barrett was pending. (C.R. 187; A.R.E. 4).

The burden rests upon the Defendants as appellants to see that the record contained all data essential to an understanding and presentation of matters relied upon for reversal on appeal. *Shelton v. Kindred*, 279 So.2d 642, 644 (Miss. 1973). Therefore, no evidence existed at the trial

court or on the record for this Court to determine that there is an issue of fact as to whether Plaintiffs did not have a duty to bring their suit for the protection of SuperCo,Inc. at the time of filing. Therefore, the trial court was correct in granting summary judgment.

2. Item (m) of the Agreement does not inure to Defendant Storey's new companies and therefore Plaintiffs had no duty to Defendant Storey's new companies.

Defendants contend: (1) Plaintiffs failed to develop marketing or consult with Defendants by virtue of requiring Defendants to defend Plaintiffs' injunctive action; and (2) Plaintiffs, by virtue of naming Battlefield Express Drugs, Inc. and Battlefield Compounding Center, Inc., have claimed these Defendants are "alter egos" of Defendant Storey. Neither argument is supported by the record.

Defendants include in their Appellant Brief "**Response to Plaintiffs' Corporate Argument**" in which they argue a preemptive response to Plaintiffs' expected argument that Defendant corporations are the alter-ego of Defendant Storey. (Appellants' Brief 21-24). However, no such argument was ever presented to the trial court by Plaintiffs and therefore is not properly before this Court. *See Mills v. Nichols*, 467 So 2d. 924, 931(Miss. 1985)(explaining ("[t]he well-recognized rule is that a trial court will not be put in error on appeal for a matter not presented to it for decision")(*citations omitted*). Therefore this argument is not properly before this Court on appeal.

It is true that the Defendant corporations were joined as parties in interest (C.R. 165; A.R.E. 3). In fact, Plaintiffs stated in their Complaint that all Defendants were named pursuant to Rule 65 of *Miss. R. Civ. P.* to enjoin any person in "active concert" or participation with Defendants, including Defendant Storey, who was the owner (as sole shareholder and officer) and creator of his new companies. (C.R.7; R.E.2). Further, Plaintiffs have offered in their

÷.

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